1992

# John Deere Company v. A & H Equipment, Inc., Wendell Hansen, Mark B. Anderson, and Vada A. Anderson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

This appeal from a final judgment of the Fourth District Court was brought pursuant to Rule 3(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. The final judgment was entered on September 21, 1992. (R. 370-71) Defendants' notice of appeal and undertaking on appeal were timely filed on September 28, 1992, (R. 372-77), within the thirty days allowed by Rule 4(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

The appeal was filed with the Supreme Court, pursuant to its appellate jurisdiction over "orders, judgments, and decrees of any court of record over which the Court of Appeals does not have original appellate jurisdiction," set forth in Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j) (1992). Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(4) (1991), this appeal was poured over to the Court of Appeals on November 17, 1992. (R. 383)

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

1. Did the trial court err in enforcing plaintiff's proposed settlement agreement when:

a. Its specific terms were never proposed nor agreed to by defendants?

b. It had not been previously filed with the court or entered upon the minutes of the court as required by Utah Code Ann. § 78-51-32 (1992) and Rule 4-504(8) of the Code of Judicial Administration?

2. If the settlement agreement is a valid contract, is it voidable as a consequence of counsel's unilateral mistake of fact?

3. If an agreement existed, did the trial court err in summarily enforcing it because its terms are ambiguous?

Standard of Review:

To the extent that the issues of this appeal involve a factual finding of the trial court, although the court did not appear to engage in any fact finding, a trial court's findings of fact will not be disturbed on appeal unless clearly erroneous. State v. Lovegren, 798 P.2d 767, 770 (Utah Ct. App. 1990); Utah R. Civ. P. 52(a). "Findings are clearly erroneous only when they are against the clear weight of the evidence or when the appellate court is convinced that a mistake has been made." Id. Further,

[t]o show clear error in a finding of fact, the challenging party must marshal all evidence supporting the finding, and show that the finding is nevertheless against the great weight of the evidence. Additionally, due regard must be given to the trial court's ability to judge the credibility of witnesses.

Merriam v. Merriam, 799 P.2d 1172, 1176 (Utah Ct. App. 1990) (citations omitted).

To the extent that the issues involve the trial court's conclusions of law, this Court may review the trial court's conclusions for correctness, affording them no deference. Tanner v. Phoenix Ins. Co., 799 P.2d 231, 233 (Utah Ct. App. 1990).

In general, settlement agreements are favored by the law because of the obvious benefits to both the parties and the judicial system. Tracy-Collins Bank & Trust Co. v. Travelstead, 592 P.2d 605, 607 (Utah 1979). It is also well established that a settlement agreement may be summarily enforced by a motion in the



court of the original action. Id. Utah Courts, therefore, will "affirm the granting of a motion to compel settlement if the record establishes a binding agreement and 'the excuse for nonperformance is comparatively unsubstantial.'" Zions First Nat'l Bank v. Barbara Jensen Interiors, Inc., 781 P.2d 478, 479 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) (quoting Tracy-Collins Bank & Trust Co., 592 P.2d at 609).

#### **DISPOSITIVE STATUTES**

**Utah Code Ann. § 78-51-32 (1992):**

**78-51-32. Authority of attorneys and counselors.**

An attorney and counselor has authority:

(1) to execute in the name of his client a bond or other written instrument necessary and proper for the prosecution of an action or proceeding about to be or already commenced, or for the prosecution or defense of any right growing out of an action, proceeding or final judgment rendered therein.

(2) to bind his client in any of the steps of an action or proceeding by his agreement filed with the clerk or entered upon the minutes of the court, and not otherwise.

(3) to receive money claimed by his client in an action or proceeding during the pendency thereof or after judgment, unless a revocation of his authority is filed, and, upon payment thereof and not otherwise, to discharge the claim or acknowledge satisfaction of the judgment.

**Rule 4-504 of the Code of Judicial Administration:**

**Rule 4-504. Written orders, judgments and decrees.**

**Intent:** To establish a uniform procedure for submitting written orders, judgments, and decrees to the court. This rule is not intended to change existing law with respect to the enforceability of unwritten agreements.

**Applicability:**

This rule shall apply to all civil proceedings in courts of record except small claims.

**Statement of the Rule:**

(1) In all rulings by a court, counsel for the party or parties obtaining the ruling shall within fifteen days, or within a shorter time as the court may direct, file with the court a proposed order, judgment, or decree in conformity with the ruling.

(2) Copies of the proposed findings, judgments, and orders shall be served upon opposing counsel before being presented to the court for signature unless the court otherwise orders. Notice of objections shall be submitted to the court and counsel within five days after service.

(3) Stipulated settlements and dismissals shall also be reduced to writing and presented to the court for signature within fifteen days of the settlement and dismissal.

(4) Upon entry of judgment, notice of such judgment shall be served upon the opposing party and proof of such service shall be filed with the court. All judgments, orders, and decrees, or copies thereof, which are to be transmitted after signature by the judge, including other correspondence requiring a reply, must be accompanied by pre-addressed envelopes and pre-paid postage.

(5) All orders, judgments, and decrees shall be prepared in such a manner as to show whether they are entered upon stipulation of counsel, the motion of counsel or upon the court's own initiative and shall identify the attorneys of record in the cause or proceeding in which the judgment, order or decree is made.

(6) Except where otherwise ordered, all judgments and decrees shall contain the address or the last known address of the judgment debtor and the social security number of the judgment debtor if known.

(7) All judgments and decrees shall be prepared as separate documents and shall not include any matters by reference unless otherwise directed by the court. Orders not constituting judgment or decrees may be made a part of the documents containing the stipulation or motion upon which the order is based.

(8) No orders, judgments, or decrees based upon stipulation shall be signed or entered unless the stipulation is in writing, signed by the attorneys of record for the respective parties and filed with the clerk or the stipulation was made on the record.

(9) In all cases where judgment is rendered upon a written obligation to pay money and a judgment has previously been rendered upon the same written obligation, the plaintiff or plaintiff's

counsel shall attach to the new complaint a copy of all previous judgments based upon the same written obligation.

(10) Nothing in this rule shall be construed to limit the power of any court, upon a proper showing, to enforce a settlement agreement or any other agreement which has not been reduced to writing.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

##### **Procedure Below.**

Plaintiff and appellee, John Deere Company, brought this civil action against defendants and appellants, A & H Equipment, Inc., Wendell Hansen, Mark B. Anderson, and Vada A. Anderson, on June 20, 1989. (R. 1-105) The trial court, Judge Cullen Y. Christensen of the Fourth Judicial District Court presiding, entered judgement on September 21, 1992 in favor of plaintiff on plaintiff's motion to enforce a settlement agreement purportedly entered into by the parties. (R. 370-71). Defendants appealed this order to the Utah Supreme Court on September 23, 1992. (R. 376-77) The Supreme Court subsequently poured the case over to the Utah Court of Appeals for disposition. (R. 379)

##### **Statement of Facts.**

Beginning in 1963, defendants Mark B. Anderson and Vada A. Anderson established an ongoing franchisor-franchisee relationship with plaintiff John Deere Co. (R. 136) In 1970, plaintiff, the Andersons, and defendants A & H Equipment and Wendell Hansen re-established the franchise. ( R. 136) At the inception of the original 1963 franchise arrangement and, again, with the later franchise in 1979, plaintiff granted to defendants an exclusive

franchise territory covering six counties in Central Utah. (R. 136) On June 21, 1983, defendant A & H Equipment, by and through defendant Wendell Hansen, entered into a series of agreements with plaintiff in connection with the franchise. (R. 103-104) Over the next several years, defendants entered into additional agreements with plaintiff. (R. 103-104) The franchise arrangement also required defendants to enter into various agreements with an affiliate of plaintiff, Farm Plan, Inc. (Farm Plan) (R. 398) Farm Plan, although a separate company from plaintiff, (R. 390), was directly involved in plaintiff's franchisor-franchisee arrangements because it is the financing arm of plaintiff, much like G.M.A.C. is the financing arm for General Motors. (R. 398)

Because of a series of reverses in defendants' business, defendants were unable to pay some of their obligations to plaintiff and Farm Plan. (R. 133-136) As a consequence of defendants' failure to pay these obligations, some of which were based upon the same agreements that are exhibits in the present case, (R. 333), Farm Plan filed suit against A & H Equipment and Wendell Hansen in a case entitled Farm Plan Corp. v. A & H Equipment, et al. and Wendell Hansen, Fourth District Court Civil No. 980400905. (R. 333) Farm Plan was represented in this action by Kim Wilson. (R. 394) Defendants were not represented in the Farm Plan action by D. David Lambert, counsel for defendants in the present action, but entered into a stipulated settlement pro se. (R. 295-96, 333)

On June 1, 1989, judgment was entered against defendants in the amount of \$36,062.47 plus interest and costs in the Farm Plan action. (R. 295-96). This judgment, which will subsequently be referred to as the John Deere Farm Plan judgment, was entered pursuant to Farm Plan's ex parte motion and the stipulation of Farm Plan and defendants A & H Equipment, Inc. and Wendell Hansen. (R. 295-96, 333) During the times relevant to the present issues, Mr. Lambert was unaware of this judgment. (R. 395)

On June 20, 1989, plaintiff filed the present action against defendants, alleging that defendants had defaulted on various obligations under the franchise agreements. (R. 1-105) Plaintiff was represented in this action, again, by Kim R. Wilson and also by Brent Stephens. (R. 105)

Defendants, by and through their counsel in the present action, Mr. Lambert, answered plaintiff's complaint and filed a counterclaim which alleged that plaintiff had breached the parties' franchise agreements on numerous occasions by breaching its promise of an exclusive franchise territory, and had committed other tortious acts. (R. 130-137) The factual circumstances and issues raised in the counterclaim, including defendants' alleged defaults on the franchise agreements and plaintiffs' various tortious actions alleged by defendants, were the issues underlying not only the issues raised by plaintiff's complaint, but the Farm Plan action. (R. 398)

Nearly two years after the initiation of the present lawsuit, defendants advised Mr. Lambert that they would be willing to dismiss their counterclaim against John Deere in return for a complete resolution of all John Deere-related matters. (R. 333) Accordingly, on April 10, 1991, Mr. Lambert wrote a letter to John Deere's counsel and proposed such a settlement. (R. 333) The letter referred to the present lawsuit by name and stated, in relevant part, "I have been asked by my client to propose a settlement with your client in the above referenced case. The settlement proposal is a mutual dismissal with prejudice and a general release of claims with each party to bear their respective costs and fees." (R. 315) (Emphasis added.) When he proposed this settlement by means of this wording, Mr. Lambert's understanding was that a general release would release all outstanding matters between the parties, including all outstanding judgments. (R. 395)

Plaintiff's counsel accepted the offer by telephone on April 15, 1991. (R. 312-13) Specific terms of the release agreement were not discussed during this conversation. (R. 333) On April 22, 1991, plaintiff's counsel sent a letter confirming this conversation, stating, "This will confirm my telephone conversation of April 15, 1991, in which I accepted your settlement proposal contained in your letter of April 10, 1991. I will prepare the settlement documents and forward them to you for execution." (R. 309) No specific terms were discussed in this communication either.

On May 8, 1991, plaintiff's counsel sent documents for signature to Mr. Lambert which purported to settle the dispute.

(R. 306) The documents stated, in part:

IN CONSIDERATION of the mutual dismissal of the Complaint of John Deere Company (hereinafter the "Plaintiff") and the Counterclaim of A & H Equipment, Inc., Wendell Hansen, Mark B. Anderson, and Vada A. Anderson (hereinafter the "Defendants") Plaintiff and Defendants hereby release and forever discharge the other from any and all claims, demands, damages, actions, causes of action or suits of whatever kind or nature, which now exist or which may hereafter accrue, because of, arising out of, or in any way connected with that contractual dispute, the details of which are more fully set forth in the files and records of the District Court of Utah County, in that certain action entitled John Deere Company, plaintiff v. A & H Equipment, Inc., Wendell Hansen, Mark B. Anderson, and Vada A. Anderson, defendants, Civil No. CV-89-1151, pending in the Fourth Judicial District Court of Utah County, State of Utah .

. . . .

(R. 306) The language of this proposed agreement was not the comprehensive and general release which Mr. Lambert had anticipated when he proposed the settlement. (R. 332) Nevertheless, Mr. Lambert forwarded the proposed agreement to defendants, who advised him of their rejection of the agreement because it did not expressly include the John Deere Farm Plan judgment, and refused to sign the agreement. (R. 332) Mr. Lambert was not aware of the John Deere Farm Plan judgment until this time. (R. 333)

On July 18, 1991, plaintiff's counsel wrote to Mr. Lambert, inquiring why defendants had not executed the documents. (R. 300) Mr. Lambert responded by requesting that the documents include the John Deere Farm Plan obligation in a letter dated July 29, 1991.

(R. 298) His letter stated:

My client is concerned about making sure that the Mutual Release of All Claims comprehensively releases him from any obligations to John Deere. Specifically, my client would like to add John Deere Farm Plan as a releasing party. Please let me know if that is acceptable so that we can get this matter finalized.

(R. 298) Shortly thereafter, Kim Wilson telephoned Mr. Lambert and told him that plaintiff would not agree that the general release of claims should include the Farm Plan obligation. (R. 332)

At no time did defendants sign plaintiff's proposed settlement agreement, nor was the agreement ever filed with the clerk of the court.

On October 22, 1991, plaintiff brought a motion to enforce its proposed settlement agreement. (R. 293-94) Defendants responded by filing a cross-motion to enforce their proposed settlement agreement, and requested oral argument. (R. 329-30, 336)

On August 28, 1992, oral arguments were heard on the pending motions. (R. 361) In its memorandum decision, the court entered an order granting plaintiff's motion to enforce the settlement agreement, denying defendants' motion, and requiring defendants to execute plaintiff's proposed settlement documents. (R. 368-69) The court entered an order formalizing this decision on September 21, 1992. (R. 371) Defendants' appeal of this order followed.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

#### **I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ENFORCING THE PROPOSED SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT WHEN ITS SPECIFIC TERMS WERE NEVER PROPOSED NOR AGREED TO BY DEFENDANTS.**

A judgment entered to end litigation by consent of the parties is in the nature of a contract, and the court's authority to



approve such an agreement depends upon its validity. To be valid, such an agreement must have (1) the proper subject matter, (2) competent parties, (3) the assent or meeting of the minds of the parties, and (4) consideration. In the present case, there was no assent or meeting of the minds of the parties.

For a meeting of the minds to occur, the agreement must embody a distinct understanding common to both parties, and acceptance must be unconditional and identical to the offer. In the present case, the trial court erred in finding that the parties assented to plaintiff's proposed agreement because the evidence on the record shows that defendant's initial offer was all-inclusive; was based upon all of the issues raised in the complaint and counter claim, and did not specify any limitations; plaintiff's proposed agreement, rather than being an unconditional acceptance of plaintiff's offer, was a counter-offer because it proposed terms that were materially different and more limited than defendants contemplated; and defendants clearly rejected it. Because no meeting of the minds occurred, but an offer and a counter-offer were made, none of which were accepted, no enforceable agreement came into being and the trial court erred in summarily enforcing it.

Further, although counsel may bind a client in procedural matters arising during the course of the action, only the client has the authority to settle the action. Accordingly, to the extent that Mr. Lambert's letter of April 10, 1991 purported to settle

only the issues raised in plaintiff's complaint, not inclusive of the John Deere Farm Plan judgment, Mr. Lambert did not have the apparent or implied authority of defendants to do so, making the agreement invalid.

**II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ENFORCING THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT WHEN THE AGREEMENT HAD NOT BEEN PREVIOUSLY FILED WITH THE COURT OR ENTERED UPON THE MINUTES OF THE COURT.**

Utah Code Ann. § 78-51-32(2) (1992), Rule 4-504(8) of the Code of Judicial Administration, and Utah case law interpreting these statutes indicate that enforcement of settlement agreements that are not made before a court or are written, signed by the parties, and filed with the clerk of the court, may be found to be valid only if there are clear indicia on the record that an agreement was actually made. Absent such indicia, a court may not enforce a purported settlement agreement. In the present case, the purported settlement agreement was not made before the court nor written, signed by the parties, and filed with the clerk of the court. Further, the record indicates that the parties never actually made an agreement because they never agreed upon its specific terms. Accordingly, the purported settlement agreement is unenforceable under the intent of these statutes.

**III. IF THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT IS ENFORCEABLE, IT WAS ENTERED INTO BY MISTAKE AND SHOULD BE RESCINDED.**

Should this court find that the parties actually entered into an enforceable settlement agreement, it should also find that the agreement is subject to rescission because of Mr. Lambert's unilateral mistake of fact. The record shows that a unilateral

mistake of fact occurred because Mr. Lambert was unaware of the existence of the John Deere Farm Plan judgment until after the settlement negotiations had begun and defendants had rejected the terms of plaintiffs' proposed settlement documents. Because he was not specifically aware of the judgment, he did not specify it in his settlement offer, even though the language he used was inclusive enough to include it. Rescission should be granted for this mistake because: (1) It deprives defendants of their right and ability to prosecute their counterclaim without giving them the benefit they bargained for in making the settlement offer; (2) inclusion of a release of the John Deere Farm Plan judgment was material to defendants' willingness to settle the case; (3) although Mr. Lambert made reasonable inquiry regarding the facts, defendants and plaintiff's counsel did not specifically inform him of the existence of the John Deere Farm Plan judgment until after negotiations had commenced; and (4) rescission will not prejudice plaintiff because it will simply be restored to the position of having to prosecute its complaint.

**IV. IF AN AGREEMENT EXISTED, ITS TERMS WERE AMBIGUOUS AND THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY ENFORCING IT.**

The ambiguity of the language in the letter of April 10, 1991, which proposed a general release of claims, was the subject of oral argument in the trial court. The trial court erred in interpreting this letter by: (1) finding there was a meeting of the minds, and (2) finding the letter to be clear and unambiguous. The determination of the existence of ambiguity is a question of law,

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