1992

# John Deere Company v. A & H Equipment, Inc., Wendell Hansen, Mark B. Anderson and Vada A. Anderson : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it enforced a clear settlement agreement between these parties. Appellants' counsel made, in writing, a clear, unequivocal offer to John Deere which contained all essential terms and was within the authorization which he had been given by Appellants. The offer was clearly limited to the parties to this action. The offer was timely accepted by John Deere's counsel, both verbally and in writing, and became a binding agreement between the parties.

If Appellants really did not agree with the settlement, they could have alerted their counsel when they received a copy of his offer letter. Instead, they waited for several months to inform him and John Deere of the additional terms they purportedly expected to be part of the settlement.

In Utah it is clear that settlements can be negotiated by counsel and that such agreements do not need to be in writing, unless otherwise required by the statute of frauds. Nor do settlements need to be entered on the minutes of the court in order to be valid, as is urged by Appellants.

Appellants' claim of unilateral mistake is not supported by the record as the agreement is not unconscionable, Appellants were not diligent, and there was no mistake between counsel for the respective parties who had the authority to settle this case.

### ARGUMENT

Appellants base this appeal on four points: (1) That the settlement enforced by the trial court was never proposed nor agreed to by the Defendants; (2) the settlement is not binding because the agreement was not filed with the court or entered upon the minutes of the court; (3) the agreement is void because of mistake; and (4) if an agreement existed it was ambiguous and the court erred in enforcing it. The evidence and law relied upon by Appellants does not support their position.

### POINT I

THE UNAMBIGUOUS AGREEMENT REACHED BETWEEN THE  
LAWYERS FOR THE PARTIES WAS CORRECTLY  
ENFORCED BY THE TRIAL COURT.

Appellants argue that the settlement offer contained in Mr. Lambert's letter of April 10, 1991, included a release of the Farm Plan Judgment or, alternatively, that there was never a meeting of the minds so the settlement was not enforceable. Appellants' argument that the settlement proposal included a release of the Farm Plan Judgment is clearly unsubstantiated. Mr. Lambert's letter references only the instant case, does not mention any Farm Plan claim or Judgment, and specifically states that the settlement is between only these parties. In the subsequent telephone conversation between Mr. Stephens and Mr. Lambert, the Farm Plan case was not mentioned. (R. 312.) Mr. Lambert has sworn that he was not even aware of the Farm Plan Judgment until several months later. (R. 332-333.) Now,

Appellants argue that Mr. Lambert's proposal included the Farm Plan Judgment. "When he [Mr. Lambert] proposed this settlement by means of this wording, Mr. Lambert's understanding was that a general release would release all outstanding matters between the parties, including all outstanding judgments." (Brief of Appellants at 8, emphasis and brackets added.)<sup>7</sup> The record does not support Appellants' claim that Mr. Lambert's settlement offer included the release of a Judgment that he did not know existed, by an entity that he had no knowledge of or involvement with and which was not even before the trial court.

Appellants argue further that there was no meeting of the minds because Mr. Stephens's telephone call to Mr. Lambert and his subsequent confirming letter do not contain "specific terms." (Brief of Appellant at 8.) In both the telephone call and in his letter Mr. Stephens referred to and accepted the terms contained in the April 10, 1991 offer (R. 312); no additional specificity was needed. Mr. Lambert's letter contains all of the terms necessary to enforce the settlement between these parties. And Mr. Stephens clearly and effectively communicated his client's

---

<sup>7</sup>Much of Appellants argument presupposes that John Deere and Farm Plan are one and the same. For example, in the passage preceding this footnote, Appellants argue that Mr. Lambert understood that the settlement would "release all outstanding matters between the parties." That is exactly what the trial court did: It enforced the general release between the parties in this case. Farm Plan is a separate entity which was not a party to this litigation, and it had no involvement in the negotiations and settlement in this case.

acceptance of the offer to Mr. Lambert. There can be no doubt that Mr. Lambert and Mr. Stephens, on behalf of their respective clients, had a meeting of the minds as is set forth in their April 1991 correspondence.<sup>8</sup>

The record is also clear that Mr. Lambert had the authority to settle the case in this fashion. In his letter of April 10, 1991 Mr. Lambert states that he was "asked by [his] client to propose a settlement in the above referenced case." This establishes that Mr. Lambert was authorized to settle the case for his clients. The scope of his authority may be inferred from his letter, but, regardless, there is no evidence in the record that Mr. Lambert abused or went beyond his authority.

It is significant that Appellants have not submitted any evidence to suggest that Mr. Lambert was not authorized to settle the case in accordance with his letter of April 10, 1991, which was limited to the parties in this action. The only evidence in the record of Mr. Lambert's authority is his statement that his clients informed him that they would agree to dismiss their Counterclaim in this case in exchange for a complete resolution

---

<sup>8</sup>Appellants' argument, in large part, focuses on their perception that they, as opposed to their lawyer, never agreed to the settlement as enforced by the court. A lawyer can act for his or her clients, through principles of agency, and can reach settlement agreements on their behalf. Brown v. Brown, 744 P.2d 333, 335 (Utah App. 1987).

of "all John Deere matters". (R. 333.)<sup>9</sup> That is exactly what he did. The record is conspicuously silent on the point now urged by Appellants that the Farm Plan Judgment was to be part of the settlement in this case. Mr. Lambert had not represented Appellants in the Farm Plan litigation and he was unaware of the Judgment in that case. It is unknown how Appellants believe that Mr. Lambert should have known about and included the Farm Plan Judgment in the settlement of this case when they had never informed him of that action and Judgment.

Of the four groups involved in negotiating this settlement, Appellants were the only ones who had the opportunity to clarify the terms, if, in fact, they were not satisfied by the proposal contained in Mr. Lambert's offer. A copy of his offer letter of April 10, 1991, was sent to A & H Equipment. The letter clearly limits the offer to the parties in this case. If Appellants disagreed with Mr. Lambert's offer they had the opportunity to contact him and clarify their position before the offer was accepted by Mr. Stephens. This they failed to do and John Deere should not be penalized for Appellants' lack of diligence.

---

<sup>9</sup>Appellants have misstated the record in this regard. They represent that Mr. Lambert was instructed to resolve all "John Deere-related matters," and they reference Mr. Lambert's affidavit for support. (Brief of Appellants at 8.) Mr. Lambert's affidavit is specific that he was instructed to resolve "all John Deere matters" which is much more limited in scope than a resolution of all John Deere related matters. Contrary to Appellant's assertion, there is no evidence that he was instructed to resolve all related matters, and their statement is misleading.

Appellants argue that the settlement documents Mr. Stephens sent to their counsel in early May "unilaterally provided terms limiting the proposed settlement agreement to a release of only those claims made in the present action." (Brief of Appellant at 19.) The record is clear that that is exactly what occurred because that is what the parties had agreed upon. Mr. Lambert's letter of April 10 offered a settlement between the parties to the case referenced in his letter. Therefore, the only parties to the settlement documents would be John Deere Company on the one hand and A & H Equipment, Inc., Wendell Hansen, Mark B. Anderson, and Vada A. Anderson on the other. Appellants' claim that Mr. Lambert's proposal included another unnamed party is unfounded. Mr. Stephens's settlement documents, in fact, effectuated a complete and general release between these parties as was agreed to by Mr. Stephens and Mr. Lambert in their conversations and correspondence in April.

Appellants state that when Mr. Lambert received the settlement documents from Mr. Stephens, the language "was not the comprehensive and general release which Mr. Lambert had anticipated." (Brief of Appellant at 9.) Then, Mr. Lambert forwarded the documents to his clients who advised him of their rejection of the settlement and refused to sign the documents because the "John Deere Farm Plan Judgment" was not included in the release. (Id.) It was at this time that Mr. Lambert first learned of the Farm Plan Judgment. (Id.)

Appellants' position is unfounded in several respects. First, if Mr. Lambert believed that the settlement documents he received from Mr. Stephens were not what he had agreed to, he would not have sent the documents to his clients for their approval. He would have immediately contacted Mr. Stephens to correct the error. And if the documents were not what Appellants were expecting, why did it take them over two months to inform Mr. Stephens that the proposed documents were not what they anticipated? The record suggests that Appellants simply had a change of heart and tried to improve their position after a binding settlement had been negotiated by their counsel.

Appellants rely on the case of Brown v. Brown, 744 P.2d 333 (Utah App. 1987) as support for their position. They claim that Brown is virtually indistinguishable from this case. (Brief of Appellants at 21.) Their reliance is misplaced. In Brown, the plaintiff moved for an order modifying her divorce decree for additional amounts of child support and alimony. On the day plaintiff was to be deposed, the parties met and stated a settlement on the record. The settlement reduced plaintiff's alimony and increased the child support. When the settlement was recited the defendant and both counsel made statements, but plaintiff remained silent. Thereafter, plaintiff refused to sign the settlement documents stating that they were unfair. Defendant filed a motion to enforce the settlement which was granted. Plaintiff opposed the motion by taking the position

that her counsel had changed his position on the day the settlement was read into the record and that her counsel had, in effect, acted contrary to her authority. Her stated reason for not speaking up when the settlement was recited was that she was in shock over her counsel's change in position.

On appeal this Court reversed, finding that there had been no meeting of the minds. This Court found that plaintiff's silence could not be construed as assent to the agreement, therefore there could be no meeting of the minds, a requisite for a binding settlement agreement. In so holding the Court states: "For a stipulation to be binding, agreement by the parties must be evidenced by a signed writing which would satisfy the Statute of Frauds, or the agreement must be stated in court on the record before a judge. 744 P.2d at 335.<sup>10</sup> In Brown, it was necessary that the agreement be in writing to satisfy the Statute of Frauds, such is not the case here. Unlike Brown, there is no evidence in this case that Appellants did not assent to the agreement. Mr. Lambert's letter states he had been asked by his clients to settle the case, and the only evidence in the record is that Appellants agreed to settle the "John Deere matters." Appellants did not propose to make Farm Plan Corporation a party

---

<sup>10</sup> To the extent this language may be cited as support for the proposition that all settlement agreements must be in writing or stated on the record in open court, this Court has clarified that is not the law in Utah. Zion's First National Bank. v. Barbara Jensen Interiors, 781 P.2d 478, 480, nt. 1, (Utah App. 1989.)

to the settlement until over two months after the settlement had been agreed to by counsel. There is much difference between this case and the Brown case.

Again, the record in the instant case contains no evidence that Mr. Lambert was not authorized to offer the settlement proposal contained in his letter of April 10, 1991. At best, Appellants did not express their intentions to their counsel and were not diligent as the settlement was negotiated. As is affirmed by this Court in Zion's First Nat. Bank v. Barbara Jensen Interiors, 781 P.2d 478, 480 (Utah App. 1989):

It is well established in the law that unexpressed intentions do not affect the validity of a contract . . . . "The apparent mutual assent of the parties . . . must be gathered by the language employed by them, and the law imputes to a person an intention corresponding to the reasonable meaning of its words and acts."

Here, the words of Mr. Lambert in his letter are clear and the acts of Appellants, for several months thereafter, are consistent with the settlement enforced by the trial court. Appellants' contrary intentions, which were unexpressed to their counsel, do not affect the validity of the settlement.

#### POINT II

IN UTAH IT IS CLEAR THAT A SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT DOES NOT HAVE TO BE FILED WITH THE COURT OR ENTERED UPON THE MINUTES TO BE VALID.

Even though Rule 4-504(8) CJA expressly states that such is not the case, Appellants, surprisingly, argue that all settlement agreements must be in writing to be enforceable. They refer to a

discussion in a dissent in the Barbara Jensen Interiors case for support and identify it as the "rule." (Brief of Appellant at 29). Whatever confusion the black letter of Rule 4-504(8) may create, this Court's majority opinion in Barbara Jensen Interiors lays to rest the notion that all settlement agreements must be in writing to be enforceable. "It is a basic and longstanding principle of contract law that [settlement] agreements are enforceable even though there is neither a written memorialization of that agreement nor the signatures of the parties, unless specifically required by the statute of frauds." 781 P.2d at 480, nt. 1. Therefore, Appellants' position is without merit.

### POINT III

THERE IS NO EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT APPELLANTS'  
CLAIM THAT THE SETTLEMENT SHOULD BE SET ASIDE  
DUE TO UNILATERAL MISTAKE.

This issue is raised for the first time on appeal and should not be addressed by the Court. Shoreline Dev., Inc. v. Utah County, 835 P.2d 207, 209 (Utah App. 1992). Even if it is appropriately before the Court, it is groundless because there is no evidence in the record to support the argument. Appellants set forth the appropriate elements which must be present in order to invalidate an agreement because of a unilateral mistake:

(1) The mistake must be so grave as to render the agreement unconscionable;

(2) The mistake must relate to a material feature of the agreement;

(3) The mistake must have occurred notwithstanding the ordinary diligence by the party making the mistake; and

(4) It must be possible to return the parties to the status quo.

(Brief of Appellants at 31, quoting B & A Assocs. v. L.A. Young Sons Const. Co., 796 P.2d 692, 695 (Utah 1990).)

However, in this case, there is no evidence that the settlement is unconscionable. Unconscionability occurs when contracts terms are so lopsided so as to oppress an innocent party or where there is an imbalance of the rights and responsibilities imposed by the contract, excessive price, or a significant cost-price disparity or terms that are inconsistent with accepted mores of commercial practice. Klas v. Van Wagoner, 829 P.2d 135, 139, cert. denied 843 P.2d 1042, (Utah ~~L. p.~~ 1992). Here, the parties simply agreed to dismiss their claims against each other and sign a mutual release. There is nothing in the record to suggest that these terms are unconscionable. Appellants are naive to think that, even if the Farm Plan Judgment had anything to do with John Deere Company and could have been part of this settlement, that Farm Plan would release a valid judgment in exchange for a dismissal of speculative claims. Indeed, that would have been inconsistent with accepted mores of commercial practice. Appellants also claim that they "clearly" intended that the settlement would include a release of the Farm Plan Judgment. (Brief of Appellants at 31.) This intent is far

from clear. In fact, there is no evidence in the record to support this claim. The only evidence as set forth in Mr. Lambert's affidavit is that he was directed to settle the "John Deere matters." As we have shown, that is what he did.

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